



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

SciVerse ScienceDirect

South African Journal of Botany 82 (2012) 11-20



www.elsevier.com/locate/sajb

Review

Quality from the field: The impact of environmental factors as quality determinants in medicinal plants

B. Ncube, J.F. Finnie, J. Van Staden *

Research Centre for Plant Growth and Development, School of Life Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal Pietermaritzburg, Private Bag X01, Scottsville 3209, South Africa

Available online 5 September 2012

Abstract

Plants have been used extensively in both pharmaceutical and food industries, with consumers showing increasing interests in these products. Phytomedicines exploit a pool of biogenic resources produced by plants. However, the quality and quantity of these chemical metabolites in plants are influenced by a multitude of factors, chief among them, environmental. This review provides an overview of plant-produced chemical compounds with medicinal properties and how their production is affected by different environmental factors. An insight into how these factors can be manipulated within the plants' growing environments as a way of ensuring quality is also discussed.

© 2012 SAAB. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Environment; Phytomedicine; Quality; Secondary metabolite; Stress factors

Contents

1.	Introduction				
2.	Plant secondary metabolism				
3.	Environmental factors - a force behind secondary metabolism?				
	3.1. Light/solar radiation				
	3.2. Soil nutrients				
	3.3. Moisture stress				
	3.4. Temperature				
	3.5. Other stress factors				
4.	4. How much of what to produce under which conditions: fine tuning the defence mechanisms				
	4.1. Stress quality (degree, duration and magnitude) versus metabolite pool (quality and quantity)				
	4.2. Multiple stress effect				
5.	Towards quality regulation in phytomedicine - does the environment have a say?				
	5.1. Possible environmental solutions to quality problems				
6.	Conclusion				
Ack	Acknowledgements				
Ref	References				

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +27 33 2605130; fax: +27 33 2605897. E-mail address: rcpgd@ukzn.ac.za (J. Van Staden).

1. Introduction

Plants constantly interact with rapidly changing and potentially damaging external environmental factors. Being organisms devoid of mobility, plants have evolved elaborate intricate alternative defence strategies, which involve an enormous variety of chemical metabolites as tools to overcome stress conditions. Secondary metabolites play a major role in the adaptation of plants to the changing environment. Plants have an almost limitless ability to synthesise these metabolites. As a result of biotic and abiotic stresses, such as temperature, light intensity, herbivory and microbial attack, plants generate these defence mechanisms, triggering many complex biochemical processes (Holopainen and Gershenzon, 2010). Changes have been reported at genetic or protein level that are brought about by stress conditions and are reflected in a profound alteration of the metabolite pool of the affected plants (Dangle and Jones, 2001; Loreto and Schnitzler, 2010; Szathmáry et al., 2001). The synthesis of secondary metabolites is, however, often tightly regulated, and is commonly either restricted to specific plant tissues or developmental stages, or induced in response to stimulation factors (Osbourn et al., 2003; Wink, 2003). As a strategy for survival and for the generation of diversity at the organism level, the ability to synthesise particular classes of secondary metabolites is also restricted to selected plant groups.

The ability of plants to carry out *in vivo* combinatorial chemistry by mixing, matching and evolving the gene products required for secondary metabolite biosynthetic pathways, creates an unlimited pool of chemical compounds, which humans have exploited to their benefit. Plant secondary metabolites therefore, offer a diverse range of benefits to humans, that includes among them, medicinal properties.

As a result of the recent expansion in the interest on secondary metabolites, the research fields of molecular biology, biochemistry, plant physiology and ecology have overlapped each other's boundaries and established the variations in molecular mechanisms and metabolism underlying the diversity and production of these compounds in plants. Here, we review literature on how different environmental factors qualitatively and quantitatively influence secondary metabolites of medicinal benefits and how these can be integrated as tools to ensure medicinal quality in phytomedicines.

2. Plant secondary metabolism

Plants are multifaceted chemical factories that produce a multitude of structurally diverse organic compounds that are not directly involved in the normal growth, development, or reproduction, but are thought to be required in the adaptation with their environment. These secondary metabolites usually contain more than one functional group and often exhibit multiple functionalities and bioactivity (Dey and Harborne, 1989). Although they are structurally diverse, secondary metabolites derive their synthesis from limited products of primary metabolism (Crozier et al., 2006). Intensive research efforts have elucidated the basic biochemistry and molecular

biology of some biosynthetic pathways of secondary metabolism, with most of the findings supporting the chemical reasoning that the diversification of secondary metabolism originates from the elaboration of a few central intermediates (Facchini, 1999; Kutchan, 1995; Kutchan and Zenk, 1993; Wink, 2003). Further studies on secondary metabolism reveal that their biosynthesis is not a random process, but rather highly ordered with respect to plant development, often exhibiting controlled expression of their pathways within organs, specific cells, and/or organelles within cells (Osbourn et al., 2003). Their synthesis depends on numerous enzymes involved in different metabolic pathways and their metabolism is completely integrated into morphological and biochemical regulatory patterns of plants. Several schools of thought, substantiated with numerous scientific evidence, implicate the highly ordered interactions between plants and their biotic and abiotic environments as being a major driving force behind the emergence of specific secondary metabolites (Facchini, 1999). The genetic evolutionary phenomenon could, perhaps, be the best possible logical explanation for this attribute. Despite the complex nature and inconclusive reports on the regulatory mechanisms and biosynthesis of different secondary metabolites in plants, a significant body of research evidence indicates that their biosynthesis and accumulation remain remarkably under the control of the environment (Holopainen and Gershenzon, 2010; Szathmáry et al., 2001).

Based on this compelling evidence on the role of the environment and the associated genetic mechanisms on the regulation of the secondary metabolic profiles in plants, can the plant's environment be manipulated to tilt their metabolism in favour of the production of the secondary metabolite of interest? Logically, the answer could possibly be, yes. But the question remains; could this be a simple translation, considering the multiplicity of the factors that plants are subjected to on a day to day basis? Our extensive knowledge on the chemistry and pharmacology of some secondary metabolites has led to their use in a range of medical applications. The wide chemical diversity of secondary metabolites throughout the plant kingdom, therefore, represents an extremely rich biogenic resource for the discovery of novel and innovative drugs.

3. Environmental factors - a force behind secondary metabolism?

The central aspects in the survival of plants in a dynamic environment are the identification of the forces of evolution and diversity within communities, the plant's inherent mechanism to detect these, and the ways in which this biodiversity is maintained and/or propagated. From a general evolutionary perspective, one would then hope that such critical characteristic attributes of any organism could be intrinsically controlled within the organism's genome if survival and species perpetuation are to be ensured. Arguably, this is perhaps the only possible mechanism of ensuring sustainable survival through generations in most organisms, including plants. The most common, unavoidable interaction occurring in plant communities is the plant—environment interaction. External factors

quantitatively affect the plant's metabolic processes through their effects on plant development, growth rates and partitioning of assimilates into vital metabolites. These factors can also trigger abrupt activation of qualitative changes in secondary metabolite production (Laughlin, 1993; Lommen et al., 2008; Pérez-Estrada et al., 2000). This could possibly be one of the explanations behind plant metabolic diversity. Climatic (abiotic) factors often have an especially large influence on the biosynthetic levels and quality of secondary metabolites in plants (Coley, 1987). Since plants cannot escape from the environmental extremes of light, temperature, and drought, nor move to regions with better nutritional conditions, they have thus evolved highly complex mechanisms to integrate physiology and metabolism in order to adapt to the conditions to which they are exposed. Secondary metabolites form an integral component of these adaptive mechanisms. Plants have acquired a range of mechanisms to sense their environment and modify their growth and development as required. Constitutive defence mechanisms differentially respond to the various environmental cues but most importantly, upon exposure to a set of different environmental regimes, induced plant response takes effect (Table 1). Induced defence responses are characterised by alterations in a set of traits that lead to a reduction of the negative effect of the stress factor(s) on plant fitness.

Throughout the course of growth and development plants are exposed to various biotic and abiotic factors to which they respond with an activation of their defence system.

3.1. Light/solar radiation

Solar radiation energy is one of the most important environmental factors required for plant growth and development. The developmental plasticity of plants in any given environment is achieved, at least partly by constant monitoring of the quality (wavelength), duration and quantity of solar radiation. The survival of plants hinges much on their ability to carry out photosynthetic carbon fixation and biomass accumulation, and have thus developed extremely sensitive and accurate capacities to sense different light spectra and ultraviolet (UV) light present in the solar radiation (Kazan and Manners, 2011). To ensure optimal benefit from light incidences, plants have evolved biochemical protective mechanisms against potentially damaging elevated doses of UV radiation and extreme light intensities. In addition, corresponding mechanisms have developed in plants as a means to optimise the absorption of useful light spectra. Among these, UV-B (280–315 nm) has been perceived by plants as an environmental stressor that promotes UV acclimation and survival in sunlight (Rozema et al., 1997). UV-B radiation is potentially damaging to plants, impairing gene transcription and translation, as well as photosynthesis (Jansen et al., 1998). Upon perception, light signals are integrated into the plant's intricate signalling network system, resulting in the conversion of light inputs into outputs that shape plant growth and development. UV-B radiation impacts on the levels of a broad range of secondary metabolites, including phenolic compounds, terpenoids and alkaloids as part of outputs and/or intermediates in this complex biochemical interaction (Kazan and Manners, 2011; Rozema et al., 1997).

Phenylpropanoid derivatives are among the major classes of secondary metabolites that selectively absorb in the UV-B spectral region without decreasing penetration of photosynthetic radiation into the leaf. This has led to speculations that one of their major roles is to act as sunscreens to absorb UV-B light. Several studies using phenylpropanoid mutants and different UV-B radiation levels have yielded results that are consistent with this opinion (Laakso et al., 2000; Lavola et al., 1997; Winkel-Shirley, 2002), but a decrease in the level of these

Table 1 Influence of some environmental factors on secondary metabolite production in some medicinal plant species.

Environmental stress factor	Plant species	Secondary metabolites	Reference
Light	Betula spp., Pinus taeda, Salix myrsinifolia, Arabidopsis thaliana, Secale cereal, Artemisia annua, Sambucus nigra, Cornus sanguinea, Prunus serotina, Frangula alnus, Corylus avellana, Pteridium arachnoideum, Solanum tuberosum, Diplacus spp., Larrea, Marchantia polymorpha	Terpenoids, alkaloids, flavonoids, flavonol glycosides, hydroxycinnamic acids, tannins, artemisinin, phenolic acids, phytosterols; glycoalkaloids, luteolin, apigenin	Alonso-Amelot et al. (2007), Arnqvist et al. (2003), Burchard et al. (2000), Karolewski et al. (2010), Kliebenstein (2004), Laakso et al. (2000), Lavola et al. (1997), Lommen et al. (2008), Markham et al. (1998), Rhoades (1977), Tegelberg and Julkunen-Tiitto (2001) and Winkel-Shirley (2002)
Moisture	Pteridium arachnoideum, Artemisia annua, Pachypodium saundersii, Achnatherum inebrians	Phenolic compounds, lipophilic resins, artemisinin, tannins, isoprene, anthocyanins, alkaloids	Alonso-Amelot et al. (2007), Horner (1990), Lommen et al. (2008), Sharkey and Loreto (1993) and Zhang et al. (2011)
Temperature	Arnica montana, Hypericum perforatum, Achnatherum inebrians, Quercus spp., Pachypodium saundersii, Petunia×hybrida	Phenolic compounds, isoprene anthocyanins, alkaloids, flavonoids, tannins	Albert et al. (2009), Christie et al. (1994), Pennycooke et al. (2005), Sharkey and Loreto (1993), Singsaas and Sharkey (2000), Solecka and Kacperska (1995), Zhang et al. (2011) and Zobayed et al. (2005)
Soil nutrients	Rhodiola sachalinensis, Ceratonia siliqua, Lithopermum erythrorhizon, Aradopsis thaliana, Betula spp., Eucalyptus cladocalyx	Salidroside, phenolic compounds, gallotannins, condensed tannins, shikonin, cyanogenic glycosides	Dixon and Paiva (1995), Gleadow et al. (1998), Kim and Chang (1990), Kliebenstein (2004), Kouki and Manetas (2002), Riipi et al. (2002), Simon et al. (2010) and Yan et al. (2004)
Ozone	Pinus taeda, Ginkgo biloba, Betula pendula, Petroselium crispum	Tannins, phenolic acids, phenolic compounds,	Eckey-Kaltenbach et al. (1994), He et al. (2009), Jordan et al. (1991), Lavola et al. (1994) and Saleem et al. (2001)

metabolites in some species has also been reported (Tegelberg and Julkunen-Tiitto, 2001). These studies brought forth disparate conclusions on the range of phenolics that act as predominant UV-B protectants. Some of these include hydroxycinnamic acids, flavonoids, and complex polymeric lignin or tannin-like compounds. A prominent group of these compounds is flavonoids, but hydroxycinnamic acids and their esters have also been implicated in this role in a broad range of plant species (Burchard et al., 2000; Kliebenstein, 2004).

Structural and chemical diversity of flavonoids is related to their diverse properties and roles in plants. These compounds, in addition to affording protection against ultraviolet radiation, also serve to protect plants against pathogenic and herbivorous attack (Harborne and Williams, 2000). Hrazdina (1992), working with a Pisum sativum cv. argenteum mutant, reported that the highest accumulation of both anthocyanin and flavonol glycosides occurs in the upper epidermal layers of leaf peels, which were directly exposed to visible and UV light irradiation, confirming a UV inducible protection role for these compounds. In view of this, solar radiation seems to have an especially profound contribution to the content of flavonoids and phenolic acids in plants. Flavonoids have attracted a lot of research interest in the pharmacological and pharmaceutical spheres, and this has seen characterisation of various plant flavonoids as antifungal, antibacterial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antitumor, anti-hepatotoxic, anti-lipolytic, vasodilator, immunostimulant and antiallergic agents (Alias et al., 1995; Burda and Oleszek, 2001; Gurib-Fakim, 2006; Iinuma et al., 1994; Williams et al., 1999). Because tannins have been shown to have antibiotic, antifeedant, or biostatic effects on a variety of organisms that consume them (Haslam, 1989), their chemical properties have been exploited in the discovery of versatile medicinal agents. Tannins are thus reported to possess numerous medicinal properties such as antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral, antidiarrhoeal, free radical scavenging, immunomodulatory, antiinflammatory, antitumour and antidote activities (Gurib-Fakim, 2006; Okuda et al., 1992). In addition, phenolic compounds, including tannins and flavonoids are important contributors to organoleptic qualities of fresh fruits, fruit juices, and wine. Their potential contribution to human health therefore, will largely depend on the environmental factors that control their accumulation levels and quality in plants.

The relationship between plant solar radiation stress acclimation and human health is not limited to phenolic compounds as antioxidants, but comprises a broad array of other metabolites, some of which possess desirable pharmacological properties, while some are toxic to humans. Glycoalkaloids such as α -solanine and α -chaconine reportedly accumulate in potato tubers exposed to mechanical stress or light (Arnqvist et al., 2003; Marcel et al., 2008), and the compounds lead to gastro-intestinal or neurological disorders in humans. However, accumulation of these compounds is directly associated with accumulation of phytosterols (Arnqvist et al., 2003), which themselves have positive effects on human health. Phytosterols limit absorption of cholesterol from fat matrices into the intestinal tract, which in turn results in lower cholesterol levels in human consumers and decreases the incidence of cardiovascular diseases. Notwithstanding this

seemingly clear link between light-induced levels of secondary metabolites and the pharmacological benefits, a review of literature demonstrates this association as being highly complex. To ensure quality, safety and to improve on phytopharmaceuticals and human health, an understanding of the factors controlling these metabolites would thus become a fundamental prerequisite.

3.2. Soil nutrients

The effects of soil nutrient availability on plant growth, physiology, tissue chemistry, or stress tolerance are often investigated by experimentally manipulating nutrient supply. Levels of secondary metabolites in plant tissues have been reported to vary with resource availability (Coley et al., 1985). Levels of proanthocyanidins increase following nutritional stress such as limitation in available phosphate (Kouki and Manetas, 2002). Low iron levels were shown to stimulate increased biosynthesis of phenolic compounds (Dixon and Paiva, 1995). In general, source—sink relations are expected to constrain the levels of secondary metabolites accumulated by growing plants (Price et al., 1989) but their dynamics warrants further exploration.

Plant nutrient balance in the soil is thought to influence the production of secondary compounds at the level of metabolic regulation in plants (Herms and Mattson, 1992). The carbon/ nitrogen balance (CNB) hypothesis, as proposed by Bryant et al. (1983), postulates that fertilisation with growth-limiting nutrients will lead to decreased concentrations of carbon-based secondary metabolites. CNB explains the concentrations of secondary metabolites in plant tissues as a function of the relative abundance of plant resources, particularly nitrogen. The theory rests on the assumptions that growth (primary metabolism) is a priority for plants over secondary metabolism, and that carbon and nitrogen are allocated to secondary metabolite production only after the requirements for growth are met. It also assumes that the rate of secondary metabolite production is determined by the concentrations of precursor molecules (Reichardt et al., 1991). When growth is limited by nitrogen deficiency in plants, CNB predicts that carbohydrates will accumulate in plant tissues, leading to an increased synthesis of carbon-based secondary compounds. The interpretation placed on such results is that the accumulation of C-based metabolites when the carbon-nitrogen ratio is high is due to a relative excess of fixed carbon being available to the plant. Thus the plant is only able to use the photosynthates for C-, H-, and O-containing metabolites, such as phenolics and terpenes (Waterman and Mole, 1994). The theory therefore, predicts that nutrient limitation leads to a decrease in the production of N-containing compounds such as alkaloids and cyanogenic glycosides. Although many studies have yielded results that are consistent with these predictions (Dixon and Paiva, 1995; Kouki and Manetas, 2002; Simon et al., 2010), CNB has also failed repeatedly in several other similar studies (Koricheva et al., 1998; Riipi et al., 2002).

In line with the opinion of the CNB theory, Jones and Hartley (1999) proposed a protein competition model (PCM) of phenolic allocation in plants. In contrast to the predictions of CNB, the PCM attempts to explain phenolic production on the

basis of the metabolic origins of pathway constituents, alternative fates of pathway precursors, and biochemical regulatory mechanisms. Protein synthesis and the phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL)-catalysed committed step of phenolic and alkaloid biosynthesis, both utilise the amino acid phenylalanine as a precursor (Diallinas and Kanellis, 1994). This, therefore, presents a protein-metabolite competition for the limiting phenylalanine, leading to a process-level trade-off between rates of protein versus metabolite synthesis. When rates of protein synthesis are high, rates of phenolic synthesis should be low and vice versa (Jones and Hartley, 1999). Because of these demands, the phenylalanine pool appears to be limiting in plants (Weaver and Hermann, 1997). Allocation to phenolic biosynthesis, therefore, may be determined by the competitive dynamics between protein and phenolic demands and these are controlled by the inherent growth demands and environmental cues. To this effect, the two theories further affirm the widely held view that the rate of secondary metabolite production in plants is a result of the interaction between the extrinsic (environmental) and the plant's intrinsic (genetic) factors. Because secondary metabolism is linked to primary metabolism by the rates at which substrates are diverted from primary pathways and channelled towards the secondary biosynthetic routes, several factors affecting growth, photosynthesis and other parts of primary metabolism will also affect secondary metabolism.

In investigating the effects of soil nutrient factors on salidroside (active ingredient) production in the roots of Rhodiola sachalinensis (Chinese medicinal herb), Yan et al. (2004) found that rich organic matter, low pH and high levels of exchangeable nitrogen and total nitrogen in the soil were essential to high level production of salidroside. However, when soil bioavailable phosphorus content was increased to levels higher than 5 mg/L and exchangeable potassium content higher than 180 mg/L, salidroside yields were significantly reduced. Salidroside is a phenolic glycoside with some nervous stimulating effects, causes fatigue, decreases depression, and enhances work performance and resists the side effects of anoxia (Ming et al., 1988). Such investigations provide a guide to soil management practices on how to select and fertilise the soil for the cultivation of medicinal plants in order to improve their effectiveness. The shift in the soil nutrition will definitely lead to the alteration of both primary and secondary metabolism and consequently results in changes on the plant's productivity of secondary metabolites. On their investigation of the effect of a range of soil N on the correlation between growth and defence metabolites, Simon et al. (2010) found evidence that, for every N invested in cyanogenic glycosides, additional N is added to the leaf in Eucalyptus cladocalyx.

Given the relatively large demand that cyanogenesis makes on plant resources (up to 15% of leaf N in *E. cladocalyx*, Gleadow et al., 1998) and its effectiveness as a defence mechanism, soil nutritional status would therefore, determine cyanogenic glycoside concentrations in plants. In resource-limited environments, carbon partitioning to constitutive secondary metabolism often increases, which enhances resistance to attack by herbivores as well as stress tolerance.

Plasticity in patterns of resource allocation and partitioning also translate into variation in secondary metabolism. This trade-off in resource allocation between primary and secondary metabolism has important implications on the phytomedicinal quality of medicinal plants.

3.3. Moisture stress

Drought events of relative ranges of magnitudes and durations are commonly experienced in many environments and can drastically impact plant survival and/or stress tolerance. Growth reduction is expected under drought because water limitation reduces photosynthetic rates. Reduced water availability and high temperatures influence high phenolic production in plants (Alonso-Amelot et al., 2007; Glynn et al., 2004). Plants close their stomata and curtail photosynthesis during periods of water shortage and thus one might expect a negative relationship between water shortage and the synthesis of secondary metabolites. A more definite role of phenolic compounds in plant water-relations has been proposed for lipophilic resins accumulated in *Diplacus* and *Larrea* species (Rhoades, 1977), where an integrated antidesiccant and UV screen defence role have been assumed. Furthermore, Horner (1990) suggested a link between xylem pressure and tannin synthesis, and that the relationship can either be positive or negative, depending on the degree of water stress suffered by the plant. Phenolic and saponin levels and the corresponding bioactivity were found to vary seasonally in medicinal bulbs (Ncube et al., 2011a). In the same study, high phenolic compounds were recorded in all the species during the winter season, where moisture stress is a typical characteristic. The authors, therefore, speculated that moisture stress might have contributed to such high levels of phenolic compounds during this season.

3.4. Temperature

Temperature stress in plants is generally known to induce or enhance the active oxygen species-scavenging enzymes like superoxide dismutase, catalase, peroxidase and several antioxidants. Temperature stress may lead to a number of physiological, biochemical and molecular changes in plant metabolism such as protein denaturation or perturbation of membrane integrity. Many of these changes can alter the secondary metabolite concentrations in the plant tissues that are often used as an indicator of stress injury in the plant (Zobayed et al., 2005). High temperature (35 °C) treatment increased the leaf total peroxidase activity together with an increase in hypericin, pseudohypericin and hyperforin concentrations in the shoot tissues of St. John's Wort (Zobayed et al., 2005). Also, an exponential increase in a variety of volatile organic compounds, with a linear increase in temperature has been described in a range of plant species (Parker, 1977; Sharkey and Loreto, 1993; Sharkey and Yeh, 2001). Cold stress has been shown to stimulate an increase in phenolic production and their subsequent incorporation into the cell wall (Christie et al., 1994). The levels of PAL were shown to increase following exposure of maize seedlings and oilseed rape plants to low

temperatures, resulting in a corresponding increase in their phenolic content (Christie et al., 1994; Solecka and Kacperska, 1995). In particular, levels of anthocyanins increase following cold stress and are thought to protect plants against this effect (Pennycooke et al., 2005). Ncube et al. (2011a) attributed the high levels of total phenolic compounds obtained during the winter season in their study as being consistent with this fact and supports similar findings from previous studies (Pennycooke et al., 2005; Prasad, 1996).

3.5. Other stress factors

In addition to climatic factors, plants are subjected to a multitude of biotic stress factors such as herbivore and pathogenic attacks (Dixon and Paiva, 1995; Holopainen and Gershenzon, 2010). Herbivore damage to vegetative parts has been repeatedly shown to cause an increased release of inducible secondary compounds (Bernays and Chapman, 2000; Hagerman and Butler, 1991). Perception, transduction and propagation of stress signals are mediated by several agents including induced hormones, leading to a large number of secondary organic compounds being released as a result of the activation of different defence pathways in addition to the ubiquitous stress compounds. The compound spectrum depends on the type and magnitude of stress, and even on the attacking organism in the case of biotic stresses (Niinemets, 2010). Mechanical damage to plant foliage also causes an elevated level of defence metabolites though most types of artificial damage do not result in metabolite compound production as intense as, or with the same compositional diversity, as herbivory (Holopainen and Gershenzon, 2010). Ozone has also been demonstrated to affect secondary metabolism in plants (Eckey-Kaltenbach et al., 1994; Jordan et al., 1991). Elevated O₃ levels increased the concentrations of terpenes, but decreased the concentrations of phenolics in Ginkgo biloba leaves grown under greenhouse conditions (He et al., 2009). Another contributing factor to secondary metabolism in plants is salt stress. Plants adjust metabolism to acclimate to different salt levels in soil and other growth media. High levels of alkaloids were reported for Achnatherum inebrians plants cultivated under salt stress (Zhang et al., 2011).

4. How much of what to produce under which conditions: fine tuning the defence mechanisms

Understanding the defence signalling regulatory pathways and uncovering key mechanisms by which plants tailor their responses to a multitude of stress factors are fundamental to its manipulation towards the desired human benefits. In an attempt to advance knowledge towards this objective, plant growth regulators such as salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (ET) have emerged as key players in the regulation of signalling networks involved in these responses (Pieterse and Dicke, 2007; Van Poecke and Dicke, 2004). These so called 'signal signatures' have an important role in the fine tuning of the plant's defence response.

4.1. Stress quality (degree, duration and magnitude) versus metabolite pool (quality and quantity)

In the field, plants are exposed to a multitude of environmental fluctuations during the day, between the days and during the growing season. Not only are they confronted with these abiotic factors, but concurrently face a range of pressures from herbivores and myriads of pathogenic microbes. Every environmental factor deviating from the optimum has an effect on the rate of relevant physiological processes, thereby constituting a stress to the plant. The way plants sense stress, depends on the duration and magnitude of the stress episode and its sustained effects depend on its severity, timing, duration and the physiological status of the plant (Niinemets, 2010). Stress factor intensities that reduce net photosynthetic rates are expected to lead to reduced carbon and energy allocation for the synthesis of constitutive defence metabolites and thus quantitatively affect their levels within plants. In addition, alterations in the activity of key enzymes limiting specific secondary metabolic pathways relative to the enzymes controlling carbon assimilation can also modify the secondary metabolite pool under different stress regimes (Singsaas and Sharkey, 2000). Consequently, different stress regimes differentially affect quality and quantity of the secondary metabolite pool in plants. A plant's response to the biotic and abiotic stress factors will therefore, vary depending on the type and magnitude of stimulation each plant species receives and on which part of the plant. An understanding of how the intensity and duration of each stress factor affect the composition and quantity of various metabolites in different plant species is essential in the commercial production of these compounds for pharmaceutical purposes. Regulation of these specific factors to levels and duration that favour optimum accumulation of a desired metabolite of interest provides an opportunity for people to utilise plants as chemical factories for producing pharmaceuticals.

4.2. Multiple stress effect

Under natural conditions, plants rarely experience single abiotic factors one by one, but are much more likely to be exposed to multiple stresses simultaneously. Seasonal climatic changes bring about a variety of different stress combination factors and hence the response by plants is not always predictable and very complex (Holopainen and Gershenzon, 2010). More often, these factors are investigated individually. Gouinguene and Turlings (2002) highlighted that when two or more factors co-occur, their effects are sometimes additive, while in other cases the influence of one factor has priority. In maize, a combination of high temperature and simulated lepidopteran herbivory resulted in greater metabolite accumulation than when either stress was applied alone (Gouinguene and Turlings, 2002). Niinemets (2010) reported that, fungal infection in maize reduced the emission of induced defence metabolites by lepidopteran herbivory alone by about 50%. Higher alkaloid levels were recorded for Achnatherum inebrians plants cultivated under salt and drought stress, with levels of ergonovine being higher than those of ergine (Zhang et al., 2011). Concentrations of both alkaloids increased over the life-span of the plant growing period. The influence of multiple stress factors commonly experienced by plants in field environments is often interactive, implying that the combined effect of various stresses is more diverse. Research efforts aimed at understanding this diversity is essential in that the response of plants to multiple stress combinations cannot always be extrapolated from responses to individual stress factors. Knowledge of how multiple stresses affect secondary metabolite accumulation in plants will provide more information to evaluate the biological roles of these metabolites in mitigating stress and provide criteria for describing their optimum yields and quality and hence provide a means of ensuring quality in phytomedicine.

5. Towards quality regulation in phytomedicine - does the environment have a say?

The extensive exploitation of plants in various medical traditions rests on the principle of active ingredients contained in their extracts. Plants undoubtedly provide these health benefits to humans largely because of their inherent ability to provide a limitless pool of chemical compounds, with diverse ranges of medicinal properties. Since medicinal plant extracts derive their therapeutic effects from secondary metabolites, the driving forces behind the production and accumulation of these valuable compounds in plants will certainly have "the loudest" voice in dictating quality of phytomedicines. To what extent does the environment contribute to this effect? Perhaps the answer lies in the rich scientific literature that undoubtedly places environmental factors, among other contributors, as the chief contributing factors to the events surrounding secondary metabolism. With this in mind, the most logical conclusion that one would reach is that, yes, medicinal quality is indeed determined out in the field.

Most medicinal plants used in phytomedicines are collected from the wild and their metabolite pools continue to be shaped by the natural, external environmental factors. Their quality is determined by natural variability of these factors. But, do these shape the metabolite pool to our precise need in terms of type, quantity and optimum bioactivity? Is there room for manipulating these factors in favour of the desired types and quantities of secondary compounds? Do high concentrations of particular classes of medicinal compounds translate to better activity? Are there poisoning effects from certain classes and/or concentration levels of some of these compounds? Answers to these questions could ensure improved quality of phytomedicines.

5.1. Possible environmental solutions to quality problems

Given the need and demand for a continuous supply of medicinal plants with uniform quality attributes, increasing the number of medicinal plants through cultivation would appear to be an important strategy for meeting a growing demand (Uniyal et al., 2000). Cultivation of medicinal plants however, has not been widely adopted as a conservation strategy in most cultures. The total number of species of medicinal plants

cultivated on any scale is very few (Hamilton, 2004). China is probably the country with the greatest acreage of medicinal plants under cultivation, but, even so, only 100-250 species are cultivated (Schippmann et al., 2002). One explanation may be found in the observation that cultivated plants are sometimes considered qualitatively inferior when compared with wild gathered specimens (Schippmann et al., 2002). The reason is primarily cultural. In Botswana, for example, traditional medicinal practitioners cited that cultivated material was unacceptable, as cultivated plants did not have the power of material collected from the wild (Cunningham, 1994). The limitations of cultivation as an alternative to wild harvest have been examined in several case studies (CBD, 1992; Hamilton, 2004; Sheldon et al., 1997). In addition, the Nagoya Protocol (2011) offers provisions for the respect of cultural and traditional knowledge of communities on access to genetic resources, which further strengthen the ability of these communities to benefit from the use of their knowledge, innovations and practices. The conclusion is therefore, that, notwithstanding the level of interest in cultivation as a means for enhanced production, most medicinal plant species will continue to be harvested from the wild to some extent. Cultivation, however, particularly under controlled environments like greenhouses, allows for the control and manipulation of specific factor(s) that influence specific secondary metabolites of interest.

Various studies have explored whether UV-B acclimation responses can be exploited to manipulate for disease resistance (Wargent et al., 2006), in a commercial context. Glasshouses and polytunnels are mostly UV-B-free. The different types of glass or plastics used in the greenhouses, however, facilitate selective penetration of some, or all, UV-wavelengths into glasshouses or polytunnels (Krizek et al., 2005). Alternatively, UV-supplementation setups, based on UV-emitting fluorescent tubes, can be used to obtain higher than ambient levels of UV-B radiation. Ultraviolet supplementation has been proposed as a cultivation measure to increase levels of tocopherol and flavonoid in vegetable crops (Higashio et al., 2007; Lavola, 1998), both of which have desirable pharmacological properties. Similarly, manipulation of other stress factors such as light, mineral nutrition, water, temperature, salt stress, CO₂, etc., in similar or related cultivation setups have previously been investigated, with varying degrees of success (Glynn et al., 2004; Gouinguene and Turlings, 2002; He et al., 2009; Simon et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2011). Furthermore, in vitro manipulation and maintenance of environmental factors in cell and plant cultures under controlled environments could be another potential source of ensuring uniform quality supply of phytotherapies (Aoyagi, 2011; Bruce and West, 1989; Kim and Chang, 1990; Ncube et al., 2011b). When plants grow in a relatively controlled environment, where climatic factors and disturbance could be looked at as uniform, quality of secondary compounds in a given plant species could at least be ascertained with some degree of predictability.

6. Conclusion

If secondary compounds can be induced by biotic and abiotic stresses, then a potential exists to use such stresses as tools to

increase the health-related properties of plant material. In advancing this aspect, any increase in the accumulation of pharmaceutically desirable plant metabolites should be viewed in the context of a complex, overall change in the metabolic profile in which levels of many different compounds change in parallel. Understanding the elicitation of induced metabolites and their lifetime is fundamental to the quantitative assessment of these compounds. Be that as it may, and notwithstanding the challenges and complex interactions between external factors and the plant's physiological and metabolic system, an understanding of these dynamics is arguably the ultimate potential strategy of ensuring quality in phytomedicine. Quality is, indeed, grown out in the field. It must, however, be pointed out that plant responses to environmental cues is species specific. A multidisciplinary approach to this theme, combining ecology, biochemistry, and molecular physiology, would have great potential to advance this field and unravel the extent to which plant-environment interactions contribute to phytomedicine. Timing of harvesting and/or postharvest handling of plant material also has an influence on the quality of secondary metabolites in medicinal plant extracts.

Acknowledgements

The College of Science, Agriculture and Engineering of the University of KwaZulu-Natal is gratefully acknowledged for financial support.

References

- Albert, A., Sareedenchai, V., Heller, W., Seidlitz, H.K., Zidorn, C., 2009. Temperature is the key to altitudinal variation of phenolics in *Arnica montana* L. cv. ARBO. Oecologia 160, 1–8.
- Alias, Y., Awang, K., Hadi, H.A., Thoison, O., Seâvenet, T., Paõâs, M., 1995. An antimitotic and cytotoxic chalcone from *Fissistigma lanuginosum*. Journal of Natural Products 58, 1160–1166.
- Alonso-Amelot, M.E., Oliveros-Bastidas, A., Calcagno-Pisarelli, M.P., 2007. Phenolics and condensed tannins of high altitude *Pteridium arachnoideum* in relation to sunlight exposure, elevation and rain regime. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 35, 1–10.
- Aoyagi, H., 2011. Application of plant protoplasts for the production of useful metabolites. Biochemical Engineering Journal 56, 1–8.
- Arnqvist, L., Dutta, P.C., Jonsson, L., Sitbon, F., 2003. Reduction of cholesterol and glycoalkaloid levels in transgenic potato plants by overexpression of a type 1 sterol methyltransferase cDNA. Plant Physiology 131, 1792–1799.
- Bernays, E.A., Chapman, R.F., 2000. Plant secondary compounds and grasshoppers: beyond plant defences. Journal of Chemical Ecology 26, 1774–1794.
- Bruce, R.J., West, C.A., 1989. Elicitation of lignin biosynthesis and isoperoxidase activity by pectic fragments in suspension cultures of castor bean. Plant Physiology 91, 889–897.
- Bryant, J.P., Chapin III, F.S., Klein, D.R., 1983. Carbon/nutrient balance of boreal plants in relation to vertebrate herbivory. Oikos 40, 357–368.
- Burchard, P., Bilger, W., Weissenböck, G., 2000. Contribution of hydroxycinnamates and flavonoids to epidermal shielding of UV-A and UV-B radiation in developing rye primary leaves as assessed by UV-induced chlorophyll fluorescence measurements. Plant, Cell & Environment 23, 1373–1380.
- Burda, S., Oleszek, W., 2001. Antioxidant and antiradical activities of flavonoids. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 49, 2774–2779.
- CBD, 1992. Convention on biological diversity. http://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf (accessed on 01/08/2010).

- Christie, R.J., Alfenito, M.R., Walbot, V., 1994. Impact of low temperature stress on general phenylpropanoid and anthocyanin pathways: enhancement of transcript abundance and anthocyanin pigmentation in maize seedlings. Planta 194, 541–549.
- Coley, P.D., 1987. Interspecific variation in plant anti-herbivore properties: the role of habitat quality and rate of disturbance. In: Rorison, I.H., Grime, J.P., Hunt, R., Hendry, G.A.F., Lewis, D.H. (Eds.), Frontiers of Comparative Plant Ecology. Academic Press, London.
- Coley, P.D., Bryant, J.P., Chapin, S.F., 1985. Resource availability and plant antiherbivore defence. Science 230, 895–899.
- Crozier, A., Jaganath, I.B., Clifford, M.N., 2006. Phenols, polyphenols and tannins: an overview. In: Crozier, A., Clifford, M.N., Ashihara, H. (Eds.), Plant Secondary Metabolites - Occurrence, Structure and Role in the Diet. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford.
- Cunningham, A.B., 1994. Management of medicinal plant resources. In: Seyani, J.H., Chikuni, A.C. (Eds.), Proceedings of the 13th Plenary Meeting of AETFAT, Zomba, Malawi, 2–11 April, 1991. Limbe, Montfort.
- Dangle, J.L., Jones, J.D.G., 2001. Plant pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. Nature 411, 826–833.
- Dey, P.M., Harborne, J.B., 1989. Methods in Plant Biochemistry: Plant Phenolics, vol 1. Academic Press, New York.
- Diallinas, G., Kanellis, A.K., 1994. A phenylalanine ammonia-lyase gene from melon fruit: cDNA cloning, sequence and expression in response to development and wounding. Plant Molecular Biology 26, 473–479.
- Dixon, R.A., Paiva, N.L., 1995. Stress-induced phenylpropanoid metabolism. The Plant Cell 7, 1085–1097.
- Eckey-Kaltenbach, H., Ernst, D., Heller, W., Sandermann, H., 1994. Biochemical plants responses to ozone. IV. Cross-induction of defensive pathways in parsley (*Petroselinum crispum* L.) plants. Plant Physiology 104, 67–74.
- Facchini, P., 1999. Plant secondary metabolism: out of the evolutionary abyss. Trends in Plant Science 4, 382–384.
- Gleadow, R.M., Foley, W.J., Woodrow, I.E., 1998. Enhanced CO₂ alters the relationship between photosynthesis and defense in cyanogenic *Eucalyptus cladocalyx* F.J. Muell. Plant, Cell & Environment 21, 12–22.
- Glynn, C., Ronnberg-Wastljung, A.C., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Weih, M., 2004.
 Willow genotype, but not drought treatment, affects foliar phenolic concentrations and leaf-beetle resistance. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata 113, 1–14.
- Gouinguene, S.P., Turlings, T.C.J., 2002. The effects of abiotic factors on induced volatile emissions in com plants. Plant Physiology 129, 1296–1307.
- Gurib-Fakim, A., 2006. Medicinal plants: traditions of yesterday and drugs of tomorrow. Molecular Aspects of Medicine 27, 1–93.
- Hagerman, A.E., Butler, L.G., 1991. Tannins and lignins. In: Rosenthal, G.A., Berenbaum, M.R. (Eds.), Herbivores. Their Interactions with Secondary Plant Metabolites. Academic Press, London.
- Hamilton, A.C., 2004. Medicinal plants, conservation and livelihoods. Biodiversity and Conservation 13, 1477–1517.
- Harborne, J.B., Williams, C.A., 2000. Advances in flavonoid research since 1992. Phytochemistry 55, 481–504.
- Haslam, E., 1989. Plant Polyphenols: Vegetable Tannins Revisited. Cambridge University Press, Melbourne.
- He, X., Huang, W., Chen, W., Dong, T., Liu, C., Chen, Z., Xu, S., Ruan, Y., 2009. Changes of main secondary metabolites in leaves of *Ginkgo biloba* in response to ozone fumigation. Journal of Environmental Sciences 21, 199–203.
- Herms, D.A., Mattson, W.J., 1992. The dilemma of plants: to grow or defend. The Quarterly Review of Biology 67, 282–335.
- Higashio, H., Hirokane, H., Sato, F., Tokuda, S., Uragami, A., 2007. Enhancement of functional compounds in *Allium* vegetables with UV radiation. Acta Horticulturae 744, 357–361.
- Holopainen, J.K., Gershenzon, J., 2010. Multiple stress factors and the emission of plant VOCs. Trends in Plant Science 15, 176–184.
- Horner, J.D., 1990. Nonlinear effects of water deficits on foliar tannin concentration. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 18, 211–213.
- Hrazdina, G., 1992. Compartmentation in aromatic metabolism. In: Stafford, H.E., Ibrahim, R.K. (Eds.), Phenolic Metabolism in Plants. Plenum Press, New York.
- Iinuma, M., Tsuchiya, H., Sato, M., Yokoyama, J., Ohyama, M., Ohkawa, Y., Tanaka, T., Fujiwara, S., Fujii, T., 1994. Flavanones with antibacterial

- activity against Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology 46, 892-895.
- Jansen, M.A.K., Gaba, V., Greenberg, B.M., 1998. Higher plants and UV-B radiation: balancing damage, repair and acclimation. Trends in Plant Science 3, 131–135.
- Jones, C.G., Hartley, S.E., 1999. A protein competition model of phenolic allocation. Oikos 86, 27–44.
- Jordan, D.N., Green, T.H., Chappelka, A.H., Lockaby, B.G., Meldahl, R.S., Gjerstad, D.H., 1991. Response of total tannins and phenolics in loblolly pine foliage exposed to ozone and acid rain. Journal of Chemical Ecology 17, 505–513.
- Karolewski, P., Zadworny, M., Mucha, J., Napierala-Filipiak, A., Oleksyn, J., 2010. Tree Physiology 30, 969–978.
- Kazan, K., Manners, J.M., 2011. The interplay between light and jasmonate signalling during defence and development. Journal of Experimental Botany 62, 4087–4100.
- Kim, D.J., Chang, H.N., 1990. Enhanced shikonin production from *Lithospermum erythrorhizon* by in situ extraction and calcium alginate immobilization. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 36, 460–466.
- Kliebenstein, D.J., 2004. Secondary metabolites and plant/environment interactions: a view through *Arabidopsis thaliana* tinged glasses. Plant, Cell & Environment 27, 675–684.
- Koricheva, J., Larsson, S., Haukioja, E., Keinanem, M., 1998. Regulation of woody plant secondary metabolism by resource availability: hypothesis testing by means of meta-analysis. Oikos 83, 212–226.
- Kouki, M., Manetas, Y., 2002. Resource availability affects differentially the levels of gallotannins and condensed tannins in *Ceratonia siliqua*. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 30, 631–639.
- Krizek, D.T., Clark, H.D., Mirecki, R.M., 2005. Spectral properties of selected UV-blocking and UV-transmitting covering materials with application for production of high value crops in tunnels. Photochemistry and Photobiology 81, 1047–1051.
- Kutchan, T.M., 1995. Alkaloid biosynthesis the basis for metabolic engineering of medicinal plants. The Plant Cell 7, 1059–1070.
- Kutchan, T.M., Zenk, M., 1993. Enzymology and molecular biology of benzophenanthridine alkaloid biosynthesis. Journal of Plant Research 3, 165–173
- Laakso, K., Sullivan, J.H., Huttunen, S., 2000. The effects of UV-B radiation on epidermal anatomy in loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.) and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). Plant, Cell & Environment 23, 461–472.
- Laughlin, J.C., 1993. Effect of agronomic practices on plant yield and antimalarial constituents of *Artemisia annua* L. Acta Horticulturae 331, 53–61.
- Lavola, A., 1998. Accumulation of flavonoids and related compounds in birch induced by UV-B irradiance. Tree Physiology 18, 53–58.
- Lavola, A., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Pääkkönen, E., 1994. Does ozone stress change the primary or secondary metabolites of birch (*Betula pendula Roth*). New Phytologist 126, 637–642.
- Lavola, A., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Aphalo, P., delaRosa, T., Lehto, T., 1997. The effect of UV-B radiation on UV-absorbing secondary metabolites in birch seedlings grown under simulated forest soil conditions. New Phytologist 137, 617–621.
- Lommen, W.J.M., Bouwmeester, H.J., Schenk, E., Verstappen, F.W.A., Elzinga, S., Struik, P.C., 2008. Modelling processes determining and limiting the production of secondary metabolites during crop growth: the example of antimalarial artemisinin produced in *Artemisia annua*. Acta Horticulturae 765, 87–94.
- Loreto, F., Schnitzler, J.-P., 2010. Abiotic stresses and induced biogenic volatile organic compounds. Trends in Plant Science 15, 154–166.
- Marcel, A.K., Jansen, M.A.K., Hectors, K., O'Brien, N.M., Guisez, Y., Potters, G., 2008. Plant stress and human health: do human consumers benefit from UV-B acclimated crops? Plant Science 175, 149–158.
- Markham, K.R., Ryan, K.G., Bloor, S.J., Mitchell, K.A., 1998. An increase in the luteolin: apigenin ratio in *Marchantia polymorpha* on UV-B enhancement. Phytochemistry 48, 791–794.
- Ming, H.Q., Xia, G.C., Zhang, R.D., 1988. The development of the research on Rhodiola sachalinensis. Chinese Traditional Herbal Drugs 18, 37–42.
- Nagoya Protocol, 2011. Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising from Their Utilization to

- the Convention on Biological Diversity. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal.
- Ncube, B., Finnie, J.F., Van Staden, J., 2011a. Seasonal variation in antimicrobial and phytochemical properties of frequently used medicinal bulbous plants from South Africa. South African Journal of Botany 77, 387–396.
- Ncube, B., Ngunge, V.N.P., Finnie, J.F., Van Staden, J., 2011b. A comparative study of the antimicrobial and phytochemical properties between outdoor grown and micropropagated *Tulbaghia violacea* Harv. plants. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 134, 775–780.
- Niinemets, Ü., 2010. Mild versus severe stress and BVOCs: thresholds, priming and consequences. Trends in Plant Science 15, 145–153.
- Okuda, T., Yoshida, T., Hatano, T., 1992. Pharmacologically active tannins isolated from medicinal plants. In: Hemingway, R.W., Laks, P.E. (Eds.), Plant Polyphenols: Synthesis, Properties, Significance. Plenum Press, New York.
- Osbourn, A.E., Qi, X., Townsend, B., Qin, B., 2003. Dissecting plant secondary metabolism - constitutive chemical defences in cereals. New Phytologist 159, 101–108.
- Parker, J., 1977. Phenolics in black oak bark and leaves. Journal of Chemical Ecology 3, 489–496.
- Pennycooke, J.C., Cox, S., Stushnoff, C., 2005. Relationship of cold acclimation, total phenolic content and antioxidant capacity with chilling tolerance in petunia (*Petunia*×*hybrida*). Environmental and Experimental Botany 53, 225–232.
- Pérez-Estrada, L.B., Cano-Santana, Z., Oyama, K., 2000. Variation in leaf trichomes of *Wigandia urens*: environmental factors and physiological consequences. Tree Physiology 20, 629–632.
- Pieterse, C.M.J., Dicke, M., 2007. Plant interactions with microbes and insects: from molecular mechanisms to ecology. Trends in Plant Science 12, 564–569.
- Prasad, T.K., 1996. Mechanisms of chilling-induced oxidative stress injury and tolerance in developing maize seedlings: changes in antioxidant system, oxidation of proteins and lipids and protease activities. The Plant Journal 10, 1017–1026.
- Price, P.W., Waring, G.L., Julkunen-Tiito, R., Tahvanainem, J., Mooney, H.A., Graig, T.P., 1989. Carbon–nutrient balance hypothesis in within species phytochemical variation of *Salix lasiolepis*. Journal of Chemical Ecology 15, 117–1131.
- Reichardt, P.B., Chapin III, F.S., Bryant, J.P., Mattes, B.R., Clausen, T.P., 1991. Carbon/nitrogen balance as a predictor to of plant defence in Alaskan balsam poplar: potential importance of metabolite turnover. Oecologia 88, 401–406.
- Rhoades, D.F., 1977. Integrated antiherbivore, antidesiccant and ultraviolet screening properties of crossote bush resin. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 5, 281–290.
- Riipi, M., Ossipov, V., Lempa, K., Haukioja, E., Koricheva, J., Ossipova, S., Pihlaja, K., 2002. Seasonal changes in birch leaf chemistry: are there trade-offs between leaf growth and accumulation of phenolics? Oecologia 130, 380–390.
- Rozema, J., Van de Staaij, J., Björn, L.O., Calwell, M., 1997. UV-B as an environmental factor in plant life: stress and regulation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 12, 22–28.
- Saleem, A., Loponen, J., Pihlaja, K., Oksanen, E., 2001. Effects of long-term open-field ozone exposure on leaf phenolics of European silver birch (*Betula pendula Roth*). Journal of Chemical Ecology 27, 1049–1062.
- Schippmann, U., Leaman, D.J., Cunningham, A.B., 2002. Impact of Cultivation and Gathering of Medicinal Plants on Biodiversity: Global Trends and Issues. FAO, Rome.
- Sharkey, T.D., Loreto, F., 1993. Water-stress, temperature, and light effects on the capacity for isoprene emission and photosynthesis of Kudzu leaves. Oecologia 95, 328–333.
- Sharkey, T.D., Yeh, S.S., 2001. Isoprene emission from plants. Annual review in plant physiology. Plant Molecular Biology 52, 407–436.
- Sheldon, J.W., Balick, M.J., Laird, S.A., 1997. Medicinal plants: can utilization and conservation coexist? Advances in Economic Botany 12, 1–104.
- Simon, J., Gleadow, R.M., Woodrow, I.E., 2010. Allocation of nitrogen to chemical defence and plant functional traits is constrained by soil N. Tree Physiology 30, 1111–1117.
- Singsaas, E.L., Sharkey, T.D., 2000. The effects of high temperature on isoprene synthesis in oak leaves. Plant, Cell & Environment 23, 751–757.

- Solecka, D., Kacperska, A., 1995. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase activity in leaves of winter oilseed rape plants as affected by acclimation of plants to low temperature. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 33, 585–591.
- Szathmáry, E., Jordán, F., Pál, C., 2001. Can genes explain biological complexity? Science 292, 1315–1316.
- Tegelberg, R., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., 2001. Quantitative changes in secondary metabolites of dark-leaved willow (*Salix myrsinifolia*) exposed to enhanced ultraviolet-B radiation. Physiologia Plantarum 113, 541–547.
- Uniyal, R.C., Uniyal, M.R., Jain, P., 2000. Cultivation of Medicinal Plants in India. TRAFFIC India and WWF India, New Delhi.
- Van Poecke, R.M.P., Dicke, M., 2004. Indirect defence of plants against herbivores: using *Arabidopsis thaliana* as a model plant. Plant Biology 6, 387–401.
- Wargent, J.J., Taylor, A., Paul, N.D., 2006. UV-supplementation for growth regulation and disease control. Acta Horticulturae 711, 333–338.
- Waterman, P.G., Mole, S., 1994. Analysis of Phenolic Plant Metabolites. Blackwell Scientific Publications, London.
- Weaver, L.M., Hermann, K.M., 1997. Dynamics of the shikimate pathway. Trends in Plant Science 2, 346–357.

- Williams, C.A., Harborne, J.B., Geiger, H., Hoult, J.R.S., 1999. The flavonoids of *Tanacetum parthenium* and *T. vulgare* and their anti-inflammatory properties. Phytochemistry 51, 417–423.
- Wink, M., 2003. Evolution of secondary metabolites from an ecological and molecular phylogenetic perspective. Phytochemistry 64, 3–19.
- Winkel-Shirley, B., 2002. Biosynthesis of flavonoids and effects of stress. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 5, 218–223.
- Yan, X., Wu, S., Wang, Y., Shang, X., Dai, S., 2004. Soil nutrient factors related to salidroside production of *Rhodiola sachalinensis* distributed in Chang Bai Mountain. Environmental and Experimental Botany 52, 267–276.
- Zhang, X.-X., Li, C.-J., Nan, Z.-B., 2011. Effects of salt and drought stress on alkaloid production in endophyte-infected drunken horse grass (*Achnatherum inebrians*). Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 39, 471–476.
- Zobayed, S.M.A., Afreen, F., Kozai, T., 2005. Temperature stress can alter the photosynthetic efficiency and secondary metabolite concentrations in St. John's Wort. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 43, 977–984.